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Friday, March 7, 2013

--- On commencing at 9:31 a.m.

MS. CONBOY:  Good morning, everyone.  Please be seated.

I see we've got some undertakings been filed, Mr. Stevens?

MR. STEVENS:  Good morning, yes, a number of undertakings were filed yesterday evening, and we expect to file further undertakings before the end of the day today.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.

Have we got any preliminary matters before we start with panel number 13?  Okay.  Hearing nothing, your witnesses are ready to be affirmed?

MR. STEVENS:  They are.  Just one point of order.  The witnesses -- there is a slight change from the witnesses indicated on Exhibit K1.1.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay.

MR. STEVENS:  Ms. Jordan is not joining us today.  With us today are Ryan Small, Kevin Culbert, and Pramod Bhatia.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.
ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 13


Ryan Small, Affirmed

Kevin Culbert, Previously Affirmed

Pramod Bhatia, Affirmed

MS. CONBOY:  We have an order of cross-examination, I believe, that sees Mr. Janigan going first with -- am I correct, Mr. Janigan?  You've got about 30 minutes of cross-examination?

MR. JANIGAN:  I think that would be about right, Madam Chair.  I think it may be somewhat less, though.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Please go ahead.

MR. STEVENS:  Ms. Conboy, before we begin, would it be appropriate for me to have the witnesses adopt the evidence?

MS. CONBOY:  Oh, absolutely.  Thank you very much for keeping me on my toes, Mr. Stevens.  Please go ahead.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. STEVENS:  Certainly.  Before I do that, Mr. Lister reminds me I do have one preliminary item to point out in relation to the undertakings which were filed yesterday evening.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay.

MR. STEVENS:  We inadvertently missed including the attachment for J3.1, so that will be re-filed today with the attachment.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MR. STEVENS:  Mr. Culbert, this witness panel is here to speak today to cost of capital and rate base.

MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.

MR. STEVENS:  And the evidence that you are going to address are the items that are set out beside panel 13 on Exhibit K1.1?

MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.

MR. STEVENS:  And can you confirm on behalf of the panel, Mr. Culbert that the evidence was prepared by you and/or under your direction?

MR. CULBERT:  Absolutely, yes.

MR. STEVENS:  And the evidence is accurate to the best of your knowledge?

MR. CULBERT:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  And do you adopt it on behalf of your witness panel for the purposes of testimony today?

MR. CULBERT:  Yes, I do.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.

MS. CONBOY:  Now you may go ahead.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

I have a small compendium that I have circulated which is basically excerpts from the evidence on the record that's before the panel.  I wonder if I could have that marked as the --


MS. CONBOY:  Absolutely.

MS. SEBALJ:  It is K10.1.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thanks very much.
EXHIBIT NO. K10.1:  VECC CROSS-Examination COMPENDIUM
Cross-Examination by Mr. Janigan:

MR. JANIGAN:  Panel, I'd like to start first with a short description of what has been planned in relation to dealing with a cost of capital in the IRM period.

I understand that the main features of your proposal are that there will be annual adjustments to the ROE that have been forecast and built into your proposal, and there will be -- there is also a forecast cost of debt that you have put forward and have been built into the proposal in relation to the cost of capital on a year-by-year basis under the IRM.  Am I correct on that?

MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  Perhaps I can get some clarification.  We're not proposing that further adjustments would be made to those forecast amounts in the allowed revenue calculations as currently stands.  We're proposing the currently forecast ROEs and costs of debt and all related costs are set now.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, as I understand it -- and I'm looking at my compendium, pages 1 and 2 -- that these changes that you've made to the IRM mean that -- mean an approximately $130 million difference between the Union I-X plan and your proposed plan.  That accounts for the 130 million of the difference.

MR. CULBERT:  Yes, as we spoke when I was on panel 1, the change in forecast ROEs that are resident in our application amount to an increase in allowed revenues, just for ROE forecasts alone, $130 million.

As I pointed out -- I'm not sure who was crossing me on this discussion point -- there was an interrogatory asked, SEC 43, which asks, what's the impact of the remaining elements of the cost of capital; i.e., what is the impact in your allowed revenues from changing the forecast of those from -- included in the weighted average cost of capital in 2013.

And if you look at SEC 43 it shows, in fact, that there is a difference of about $51 million in the opposite direction that's happening, meaning our forecasts of the remainder of cost of capital is resulting in a reduction in allowed revenues of approximately $51 million.

MR. JANIGAN:  And some of the other features of your plan are that the -- if we look at the -- page 3 of my compendium, all capital projects are non-discretionary.  Would that be correct?

MR. CULBERT:  You are looking at paragraph (b) of the response?

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, paragraph (a) of the response and (c) of the response.

MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  Yes, my understanding of the capital budget, as was explained with that panel, was that, yes, the budget has been prepared such that it has been positioned that most of the -- all of the projects are non-discretionary; that's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Is this a new feature of your capital planning?  I mean, have you ever had capital planning before where you had no non-discretionary projects, all non -- I'm sorry, all non-discretionary projects in the plan?

MR. CULBERT:  I'm not sure I'm the person that could speak to that, necessarily.  I don't oversee the capital forecasting process of the company, and I would have assumed the company's capital witnesses would have spoken to that.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  The second thing about the project -- or the capital expenditure programs that you've put forward is that, unlike your previous planning, there's no particular room for changes on an ongoing basis, and I'm referring you to page 5 of the compendium.  And that's SEC interrogatory 99.

And looking at the CIS program, it looks as if, from your response here, that you adapted the capital elements of the CIS program in accordance with the operational needs of the company.  Am I correct on that?

MR. CULBERT:  Sorry, I'm just reading the responses.  This is the first I've seen this.

So they're speaking, to my view, of changes that have been made to the CIS system that were contemplated as per the settlement agreement that talked about a $50 million threshold.  So I would agree, there probably have been changes to the CIS program that were required.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I guess this -- if I can go back to my previous question, I find it hard to believe that you've been able to put forward a program that has expenditures that are completely nondiscretionary and ones that will -- cannot be changed to meet operational requirements, as the -- as time goes on.

MR. STEVENS:  If I may, Madam Chair, I have a concern that it's going to be very difficult for these witnesses to speak to the capital budget, what's discretionary, what's not, how it was built up.

We have had some fairly lengthy discussions about that during the course of the hearing, and it is really not something that's addressed in any of the pieces of evidence that are put forth in relation to this panel.

So I'm sure Mr. Culbert will be as helpful as he can, but it strikes me it's not really fair to ask him for the company's view or the company's understanding of some of these specific items that really don't fit within the regulatory accounting role that he holds.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MR. JANIGAN:  Fine.  I'll move on, Madam Chair.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MR. JANIGAN:  I believe this panel is probably familiar with the testimony offered earlier in this proceeding associated with the company's standing in relation to net plant per customer.

There was evidence offered by the company's witness, Mr. Coyne, and evidence offered by the Board Staff witness, Mr. Kaufmann, associated with the relatively high standing of the company in relation to net plant per customer benchmarked against other utilities.

Do you recall that evidence?

MR. CULBERT:  I have some familiarity with it, but I would suggest that neither one of my co-panel members have much.

MR. JANIGAN:  My question is a general one.  If we are starting with a circumstance where we have annual forecast adjustments to the ROE and a forecast cost of debt, how is it possible that you will be able to improve the company's standing in relation to that benchmark during the course of the IRM?

MR. STEVENS:  Sorry, which benchmark is it you're speaking of?  Are you speaking about the capital --


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes, it's capital net plant per customer.

MR. STEVENS:  Again, I'm struggling with the relationship between this and the forecast amounts that are included within allowed revenue for cost of capital.

MR. JANIGAN:  Effectively, if you have both your ROE adjusted on an annual basis in accordance with the forecast, and a forecast cost of debt, it leaves you very little room for efficiency measures that would enable you to improve your standing in relation to net plant per customer.

MR. STEVENS:  I'm sorry, I guess I'm certainly in the Board's hands on this.  I'm struggling to find the link between the evidence that these folks are here to speak to and the line of questioning that relates to benchmarking of the company's net plant per customer.

MR. JANIGAN:  I guess maybe to simplify it, how do you -- in the face of what you put forward in terms to the cost of capital plan, how do you expect to introduce efficiencies in relation to net plant per customer as the IRM term goes forward?

MR. STEVENS:  Again, I'm not sure that any of the regulatory accounting group can speak to how efficiencies might be implemented or not in relation to capital spending or plant spending or activities in relation to the company's capital needs.

MR. JANIGAN:  If they can't speak to it, Madam Chair, I'll move on.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay.

MR. JANIGAN:  In relation to short-term debt, I wonder if you could turn up the item –- or on my compendium, the SEC Interrogatory 41, which is listed on page 7 of my compendium.

And the interrogatory deals with reductions in short-term debt that are planned over the course of the IRM period, and I'm curious in relation to the range that has -- used in relation to this response, how, in fact, we can have confidence in relation to your forecast of debt costs, given the amount of flexibility that you have in relation to the use of short-term debt.

MR. BHATIA:  So I think a couple of things I may want to say here.

One, that the short-term debt, the way it's used is really meant to finance the working capital and the seasonality of the utility's funding requirements with the winter seasons and the gas purchases and all.  And that just has a lot of volatility associated with it, so leaving that flexibility there is a prudent component of how we look at financing.

Number two, I would say that, you know, the actual elements, when we look at it from the forecast perspective, they are being geared -- the financing is being geared more from the perspective of what the actual funding requirements are, what the cash flow needs are going to be.

More specifically, the long-term debt comes in place when the assets are going in service, when some of the debt is being matured and stuff, and the short-term debt eventually then just falls out as what is required.

So the balance of those two requirements is the outcome of the short-term debt is.

MR. JANIGAN:  I guess what I'm saying is if the company has this built-in flexibility, how much confidence can we have in your projection of debt costs associated with the -- the IRM period?

MR. BHATIA:  So at this point, I would say that the forecast that's projected is the best expectation that the company has in terms of how much short-term funding needs would be there on an average basis, taking into account the seasonality and volatility in the business.

MR. JANIGAN:  You've forecast debt rate rates, you've forecast long-term bond rates, and you've forecast corporate bond rates in relation to the different elements of the cost of capital plan that you put in place.

I'm curious, insofar as none of those elements are really under the control of the company, and all of them are significant in relation to evolving a cost of capital, why you haven't suggested on a yearly basis an adjustment similar to what exists with respect to customer additions or volume use.

MR. CULBERT:  Yes, I can speak to that.

As part of the company's application, we were certainly cognizant of what is intended, to a degree, by incentive regulation, which is to try and fix as many elements as possible in a mechanistic way for future rate proceedings, being 2014 through '18.

So there were certainly were discussions around re-forecasting cost rates in their entirety throughout the five years, but we believed an important feature of IR is to try and be as mechanistic as possible in as many regards, with as minimal change in the rate processes going forward, and that was the consideration for this proposal.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, a cynic, Mr. Culbert, might suggest that because of these elements not in control of the company, that your forecast likely contains a contingency, an amount for a contingency that benefits the company more than the ratepayer.

MR. CULBERT:  I would agree a cynic might think that way.

[Laughter]

MR. JANIGAN:  And how would you rebut that assertion?

MR. CULBERT:  Well, there is -- obviously the company is using forecast information from the economic world, and as we pointed out, this is the best information that we have available at this point in time and there is the likelihood of variances in both directions.

So I'm not sure what more to tell you on that.

We are proposing to live with the forecast as constituted.  Certainly, you could -- every month you could re-forecast all of your economic conditions in terms of updating an application or filing an application.  That is not part of the company's proposal.  We are not proposing to update all of our forecasts.  They were set at a point in time.  You need information at a point in time to make an application, and that's what we're proposing to live with.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, the company does have some flexibility in relation to when it goes to market for its debt issue, and as we were speaking earlier, the use of short-term debt, which of course is cheaper than long-term debt.

Is it not likely that you will be using that to try to get under your forecast?

MR. CULBERT:  Well, I can have Mr. Bhatia provide some additional response.

When we forecast our use of long-term debt and short-term debt, the company forecasts its cash flows and rate-based forecasts for the future periods.  That is sent to treasury, and they certainly look at maintaining certain ratios of long-term debt and trying to, as Mr. Bhatia pointed out, trying to utilize the short-term credit facility for its general purpose, which is flexibility for changes in circumstance.


So you certainly forecast in a certain manner, and there is always changes that occur in the marketplace that would drive changes in terms of consideration of debt issuance.  That's no different now than it is for any period of a rate application.


MR. JANIGAN:  A quick question on my compendium, page 9 and 10, SEC interrogatory 43.  And just to understand the table that's been provided, in this -- I take it you kept the rate of return on a flat basis of 6.81 and didn't use any other inflator, like an I-X, in relation to these numbers.  Am I correct on that?


MR. CULBERT:  Didn't use any other inflator in the cost of capital?


MR. JANIGAN:  Or apply any other inflator across the board with respect to --


MR. CULBERT:  No, with respect to information in this document on page 2 that you are showing, we simply kept all of the elements of the forecasts identical as to what's in the application and just fixed the weighted average cost of capital at Board-approved 2013.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.


MR. CULBERT:  And my -- sorry, to continue my response --


MR. JANIGAN:  Go ahead.


MR. CULBERT:  -- my response earlier was what you would see if you add up the gross deficiency numbers, sufficiency numbers, at the bottom, they come to approximately $421 million, so that was the point I was making.  If you do that, it creates a different delta between what your change in deficiency would be if you simply changed ROE back to 2013, if you kept the rest of cost of capital at 2013 rates, it would result in a reduction, change, in the amount of interest expense declined that is resident in our application by about $51 million.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, panel.  Those are all my questions.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.


Mr. Shepherd, I believe you're second.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am, Madam Chair, and I have only one question.


MS. CONBOY:  Please go ahead.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I'll be less than an hour.


MS. CONBOY:  I'll hold you to that.

[Laughter]
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could turn up SEC 97.  It's I.B18.EGDI.SEC.97.  And I'm looking at Appendix B.  Do you have that?


MR. CULBERT:  Just a second, sir.  Not yet.  We're just turning it up.  Bonnie is faster than us.


MR. SMALL:  Appendix B.


MR. CULBERT:  Okay.  We have that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


And, now, you are not just the cost-of-capital panel, you are also the rate-base panel, right?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So this is a rate-base question, nothing to do with cost of capital.  And we explored this earlier on the capital-expenditures panel, and they said, no, it's a rate-base question, so that's why I'm asking you.


And I'm looking at line 1, and what I'm trying to figure out is how much over the course of the period 2004 to 2013 did you add to rate base when you capitalized EnVision costs.  And so -- and I'm not going to ask you to answer this unless you know the answer right away, but what I'd like you to do is I'd like you to give us a continuity of the rate base for EnVision from 2004 to date, or just -- but you can include 2014 to 2018 probably just as well, but the full continuity all the way through the piece.


What we're trying to identify is how much are your capital costs going down because you're no longer capitalizing the costs of EnVision, and so we want to look at the past ten years and see what was in your capital costs for EnVision each year.  We think it was $150 million, but if you could show us the continuity we can see what you have.


MR. CULBERT:  Right.  So you want to see the continuity of the amounts that were capitalized from the ABSU contract.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, the --


MR. CULBERT:  Net of --


MR. SHEPHERD:  It gets to this rate base of --


MR. CULBERT:  Yeah.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- one-twelve-eight-oh-seven.


MR. CULBERT:  Yeah.  Yeah.  Net of the benefits that have been accruing as a result of that contract, et cetera.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't care about the --


MR. CULBERT:  No, the benefits are net within those calculations.  So you are just trying to get to a continuity that leads to the star point here and throughout.  Yes, we can do that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  And the number I'm looking for is the additions each year, so if you balance to one-twelve-eight-oh-seven we'll get the additions, and that's the number --


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, so what I was asking, you don't want me to try to break out on a net basis the benefits that have been also going through this asset category, because that --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, if you do a continuity we'll see it --


MR. CULBERT:  We can utilize -- if we chose to, we could utilize the benefits information that was provided.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But --


MR. CULBERT:  Just wondering if you want it on a gross or net aggregate basis.


MR. SHEPHERD:  As long as I can get to how much are your capital additions going down in 2014 through -- and to '18 because you are not capitalising EnVision any more, I'm happy.


MR. CULBERT:  I understand.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


MS. SEBALJ:  J10.1.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J10.1:  With reference to I.B18.EGDI.SEC.97, to confirm decrease in capital additions between 2014 and 2018


MR. SHEPHERD:  And those are all my questions, Madam Chair.  Do I get the other 58 minutes?


MS. CONBOY:  Yeah, in another proceeding, though.  [Laughter]


Mr. Brett, I believe you are next, and I have you down here for 20 minutes.  Yes.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Brett:


MR. BRETT:  Good morning, Madam Chair, panel, and good morning, panel, Enbridge panel.  I want to just start by getting a new numbers sort of on the record here, and if you turn to Exhibit E1, tab 1, schedule 1, that's the cost-of-capital summary.  That's the first piece I want to look at very briefly.


And you -- I note, looking at these three pages here of this evidence, that it shows the cost-of-capital summary for each year from 2000 -- starting with Board-approved 2013 through your forecast for 2014 through 2018, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, all -- as you can see in the title of each of those tables, all exclusive of the CIS asset, which is a separate --


MR. BRETT:  Right.  And the Board-approved in 2013 was 8.93 percent, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Correct.


MR. BRETT:  And then you had -- under your plan, your forecasting increases in the ROE of 9.27 in 2014, and then going up, sort of in steps, to 10.27 to 2018, right?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.  Those are forecasts, as I mentioned earlier, using data --


MR. BRETT:  And the -- my arithmetic here is that if you sum up the incremental amounts of -- well, if you look at -- I guess if you looked at those same five tables and looked at column -- the last column, which is "return", and you compared the return that you get from those increasing ROEs in each year, you compared those amounts -- that is to say, in 2013 you have 131 return, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  131.5, and then in 2014 you start climbing, 145.9, and then by 2018 -- it's over the page -- you are up to 218.2, right?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.  Those are --


MR. BRETT:  And s if you add those up, if you add those differentials up, if you take in each year the differential between, for example, 2014 and the approved rates in the rebasing year of 131 and you add those five differential amounts, very roughly -- and I get an increase in collected cash in rates over the five-year period of about 285 million, give or take; is that right?


MR. CULBERT:  So I'll agree that you've done the math correctly.  That would be the result.  Of course, there's two components to that which -- one I spoke to earlier.  There is a pure increase in ROE change of $130 million, but the remainder of the difference between what you've calculated and that is your change in rate base and therefore your equity position.


MR. BRETT:  Fair enough.


Now, then the next thing is the -- if you turn up the next -- the -- I just want to look briefly at your calcula -- you do your calculation to arrive at those numbers, and that is in E1, tab 2, schedule --- sorry, E2, tab 1, schedule 1.  That is a very short piece of evidence, two pages.


And there, you illustrate the fact that you are using the method that the Board set out in its 2009 cost of capital report; correct?


MR. BHATIA:  That is correct.


MR. BRETT:  And you calculate the -- so you use – you have calculations for 2014 -- I'm looking at page 3 of 3 -- you have calculations for 2014, 2015, 2016 of the ROEs.  And in each case, you start with the Board's reset rate in the 2009 report of 9.75 percent, and then you apply the adjustments, the refinement that the Board made in 2009, where they took basically -- rather than -- they took half of the long-term bond rate and the differential and half of the corporate senior debt rate differential, and you get your -- you go through your calculation and you get your annual number, right?


So for 2014, you end up with 9.27 percent.


MR. BHATIA:  Yes.  That's how the calculation's done.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, you don't do calculations for 2017 and 2018.  Why is that?  You don't do that same calculation on that page there?


MR. BHATIA:  Yeah, I understand, sir, that evidence was filed later.  And it is there in Exhibit E2, tab 1, schedule 2.


MR. BRETT:  Could you speak a little louder?  I didn't get that.


MR. BHATIA:  Sure.  That update was filed subsequently, and that is in Exhibit E2, tab 1, schedule 2.


MR. CULBERT:  It was filed July --


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So that's a blue page –-


MR. CULBNERT:  July 31st.


MR. BRETT:  All right.  Now, the Board's formula that they set out in the reset in the 2009 -- and then the Board also in 2009 laid out an annual adjustment process, right?  That they would adjust rates each year?


MR. CULBERT:  Okay.


MR. BRETT:  More specifically, I guess, let me put it this way.  That document and those conclusions and the Board's annual adjustment were set up for cost of service applications, right?


MR. CULBERT:  They were set up for the development of the Board-approved ROE for rate-setting purposes.


MR. BRETT:  For cost of service applications?


In other words, the annual adjustment will that the Board publishes each year -- and there was an adjustment published on November 25th of 2013, right?  Which set the rates for -- it made the adjustment for 2014 rates?


MR. CULBERT:  Okay.  Subject to reading the document.


MR. BRETT:  Subject -- all right.  They arrived at a 9.36 rate for 2014?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, that's my understanding.


MR. BRETT:  Do you recall that?


MR. CULBERT:  That's my understanding.


MR. BRETT:  But you agree with me that that process that's set out in that document, specifically on its face refers to cost of service applications?  So in other words, you are borrowing the approach that the Board has used -- or using the Board -- the approach the Board set out in the context of cost of service applications?


MR. CULBERT:  So my response, Mr. Brett, is I was on panel 1 where we had questions and answers about this type of use, and the company answered that it believed it met the Board's allowed use of three different methodologies in its regulatory reform report, which is custom IR, and in custom IR the Board required entities who chose that approach to use five years of cost forecasts.


And that's what this is contained within.  We are forecasting five years of costs, which -- ROE is a cost, just as cost of capital is a cost and all the other costs.


MR. BRETT:  So you are considering in this context, you are considering the ROE -- the cost of capital as just one of our -- one of your pods of the -- of costs, to determine a revenue requirement?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  And I think the Board's determination of ROE in that proceeding specified that it was a cost like any other cost to an entity.


MR. BRETT:  Well, it specified, I think, that the -- didn't it specify that if the -- if the company wished to present some alternative scheme for setting ROE, that it should have to justify that?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, and as I've mentioned, our justification is the Board has said in a custom IR approach it expects entities to file five years' forecasted costs, and this is one of those costs.


MR. BRETT:  Now, would you -- the -- you'd agree with me that in the I-X settlements that we've had in the last few years, the rate -- the ROE has been fixed for the term of the IRM period; correct?  Enbridge's 2007 -- 2008 to 2012 was fixed for five years?


MR. CULBERT:  I would agree that in base rates that were used for the purposes of that IR mechanism, that the base rates included a fixed ROE.  I would agree.


MR. BRETT:  They did.  And they did with Union as well, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Base rates is what I'm getting at.  The base rates did include an ROE that was fixed.


MR. BRETT:  But there is also incorporated in that an ROE amount?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, I agree.  And in the base rate, there is an ROE percentage, yes.


MR. BRETT:  That's what I'm saying.  Okay.  Now, the -- you've said in your -- you've said in your evidence in your A evidence, your policy evidence, that -- I think you were asked –- this is paragraph 10 of A2, tab 5.  You were asked:  Why don't you have a -- you were asked why don't you have a floating rate, and/or why don't you have a -- why don't you do it -- why don't you have it fixed for the term, like I-X, like it is in an I-X model?


And my understanding is you replied with respect to the fixing idea, your -- the answer in your evidence is: Well, we should allow the -- we should forecast increases in the ROE because we don't have inflation.  We don't have an explicit measurement of inflation in our custom plan, and after all, the I-X has an explicit method of inflation.


But you have implicit inflation in your numbers for your plan; correct?


You certainly have it in your operating costs, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.


MR. BRETT:  We have evidence on the record saying you have used 2 percent, do we not, in your operating costs?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  As I answered to your question a few questions ago, the forecast for all of these types of things would include what changes in costs are, business conditions, inflation, forecast of changes in economic conditions.  All of those things are taken into consideration when you are forecasting costs.


MR. BRETT:  You do have inflation estimates in your costs?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  I believe we have -- spoke to that in panel 1.


MR. BRETT:  And Mr. Coyne spoke to that, and I think he said he gave you a new inflation index, I think, for your operating costs, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, I agree.


MR. BRETT:  And I think in terms of -- you were asked:  Well, why don't you float it the way the Board -- why don't you float it using the Board's calculation on an annual basis?


And I -- the answer I saw that you gave was:  Well, it's too completed.  It's complicated.  It means we have to make an additional adjustment and we want to have as few adjustments as possible.


Do you have any other reason for not wanting to float it?


MR. CULBERT:  Yeah.  As you heard me speak earlier, yes, one of our considerations was to try and keep the approaches for rate-setting mechanisms in future years as mechanistic as possible.  I understand if you take the Board formula it's mechanistic.  We agree.


However, there are some timing issues with respect to that.  You wouldn't necessarily have the pure Board formula at the point in time that we were filing an application; that's a consideration.  But the company also believed that while it was forecasting all of its costs, and things that impact its cost rates for debt issuances, et cetera, there are some coincidental impacts of those things within all of your costs that you are forecasting, including ROE in your cost of capital.


So to choose to forecast now your costs of cap -- other costs of capital but choose to float ROE, it seemed a little inconsistent in terms of what the Board's intention was in a custom IR approach, and we certainly understood that the Board's formula could be a consideration, but chose to forecast those elements now along with all of our other costs of capital.


MR. BRETT:  But you forecasting -- that leads to you forecast interest rates for five years, and that's pretty difficult, isn't it?  You are forecasting interest rates five years out?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, as we've said in our evidence, it is difficult to forecast a lot of costs for five years --


MR. BRETT:  And interest rates are particularly difficult to forecast for five years, are they not?  I mean, who forecasts interest rates for five years?  No one in capital markets.


MR. CULBERT:  Yeah, they're -- absolutely, they're difficult to forecast, as Mr. Bhatia can confirm, that --


MR. BRETT:  And what if you're wrong?  What if your interest-rate forecasts are wrong?  Is there -- there is no true-up mechanism here, is there, in respect of your -- the cost-of-capital component of this revenue requirement?  You don't true-up for changes in -- differences in interest rates from what you forecast even five years out.  You don't plan to true-up the amounts collected, right, any more than you do for any of the other pods of costs.


MR. CULBERT:  There is no plan to true-up those costs from a forecast rate-setting perspective.  There is a true-up element of our application, which is the ESM application, which would take into account changes in all costs, all revenue streams, on a normalized basis, granted, but --


MR. BRETT:  But those specific true-up for cost --


MR. CULBERT:  For rate-setting purposes, no, that is not part of our proposal.  We discussed that at length on the panel 1.


MR. BRETT:  Those are my questions.  Thank you.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much, Mr. Brett.


Mr. Thompson?


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.


MS. CONBOY:  I have you down for an hour; is that correct?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yeah, that's on capital, but I have my other questions on J1.2, so I'll deal with those first, if that's okay.


MS. CONBOY:  Sure.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson:


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, Mr. Culbert, I have some questions for you on J1.2, and I did send out an e-mail a couple of days ago indicating sort of areas of concern that I had, and I hope you've had a chance to consider that.


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, I have.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thanks.


So we just take J1.2.  Mr. Shepherd has been discussing this with you, and this shows that for 2013 actual the normalized gross revenue sufficiency is $31.2 million?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And that's grossed up from a net sufficiency of $22.9 million.


MR. CULBERT:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the -- page 1 of J1 -- sorry, page 2 of J1.2 indicates that the sufficiency in common equity return is 148.4 basis points; is that right?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct, shown on line 18.


MR. THOMPSON:  Line 18?  Now, is that -- is it fair for me to conclude that that amount is equivalent to an over-earnings amount, normalized over-earnings?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, when comparing to what the Board-allowed ROE was that was embedded into rates, it is equivalent to an over-earnings amount of 1.484 percent.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so based on your normalized 2013 results, 2013 rates have turned out to be too high by $31.2 million.  Fair?


MR. CULBERT:  They were too high relative to forecasts for that fiscal period by that amount, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And if we look at it in the rebasing context, you show on one of the pages that you were discussing with Mr. Shepherd that might have been with his exhibit that the sufficiency amount that was found in the 2013 rebasing case was $6 million.


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.  We reduced rates by $6 million.


MR. THOMPSON:  And so now with the benefit of hindsight we can say it should have been $37.8 million, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Had we known all of the changes that have occurred in 2013 relative to the forecast, yes, our rates would have been lower by an additional $31 million.


MR. THOMPSON:  And so in the rebasing year, just comparing it to information that you provided with respect to the IRM period, 2008 to 2012 -- and I have the exhibit here somewhere.  I just have to turn it up -- you will recall there was an exhibit that had --


MS. CONBOY:  Sorry, Mr. Thompson, to interrupt you.  I was just -- your question when you were talking about with the benefit of hindsight the sufficiency would have been, I think -- I thought I heard you say $37.8 million; is that correct?  The 6 million plus the 31?


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.


MS. CONBOY:  And I think I heard Mr. Culbert saying that's correct.  With the benefit of hindsight it would have been $31 million.  Did I hear that correctly?  You are talking about two different numbers?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, well, I believe Mr. Thompson was saying, had you known at the time, your sufficiency would have been $37 million, had you known at the time --


MS. CONBOY:  Yes.


MR. CULBERT:  -- what your forecast information was.


MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  I'm sorry, when you repeated it I heard $31 million.


MR. CULBERT:  Yeah, what I was getting at, incrementally there would have been additional $31 million decline in rates, for a total of 37 million --


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Please go ahead, Mr. Thompson.  Sorry for the interruption.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.


Yes, and so Undertaking J1.3, this was the one where we updated over-earnings for the error?  You may recall, Mr. Culbert?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, I do.


MR. THOMPSON:  Over-earnings during the IRM period.  Do you recall that exhibit?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, I do.


MR. THOMPSON:  And having updated for the error at line 4 in table 1 at the bottom, we had a total of 146.2, which averaged -- I made it $29.5 million or something in that order per year.  Would you take that subject to check?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so as it turns out in the rebasing year, even with giving 6 million back, you still exceeded that average in over-earnings.


MR. CULBERT:  Sure.  Certainly that's the way the math works, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So if we were using 2013 Board-approved revenue requirement and rates as the base for a point of departure of what I would call a traditional IRM plan, I-X or something of that nature, would you agree with me that the first item to be considered in the context of the $31.2 million over-earnings was whether a base adjustment was in order to bring the rates down to what they should be before you start layering an incentive plan on them.


MR. CULBERT:  I would think you would need to consider what the individual drivers were, which I pointed -- or discussed with Mr. Shepherd the other day, in determining whether those changes were something that would continue on an ongoing basis, or whether they were one-time occurrences as a result of differing circumstances in 2013 results, actual results, versus forecast, so you'd need to take into consideration what the elements of change were as a result of.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And that would all be part of the, what is called in the -- in former plans the base year or base rate adjustment, considering those things and see what impact they should have to the base.  Is that fair?


MR. CULBERT:  It's a view parties can take and the Board could take, in terms of view of whether the ongoing rates are appropriate, certainly.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And am I correct that under your proposal that you are asking the Board to approve your point of departure is the Board-approved forecasts for 2013 with no adjustment.


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, our point of departure was we were under the -- under the -- under our proposal, we were proposing to use 2013 rates as the start point.  That was the information that we had in hand for forecasting purposes for '14 through '18.  And that is our proposal, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And that's still your proposal?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, it is.  Like I said, there is elements of change that have occurred that we're not proposing to update, namely we have a rate base change.  We are not proposing to update rate base as a start point.  We are not proposing to update any of the other cost elements that were embedded in that -- approved results.


That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the way that was put initially, as I understood it, was the company will take the risk of variances in those forecasts?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  So --


MR. THOMPSON:  Between 2013 and actual?


MR. CULBERT:  So -- so maybe I can provide some context.


Some of the changes that have occurred are changes in carrying costs and changes in gas costs-related items.


The company -- the influences of the company's forecast information for those things in '13 doesn't in any way, shape or form mean that there is that much less risk in your '14 through '18 forecast.  The company has re-forecast all of those items relative to its volumetric forecasts for those periods.  So just as in '13 we were taking risks in terms of forecast accuracy and events which might affect your actuals versus those forecasts, we're taking the same risk in '14 through '18.


MR. THOMPSON:  But the risk that you're -- what you are characterizing as a risk is, for 2013 actual, a $31.2 million revenue sufficiency.


And I take your point.  We have to look at the details of this, but that's -- falls within the ambit of risk that the company is assuming?


MR. CULBERT:  It falls within the ambit of risk that forecasts are -- can be as completely accurate as possible, not only to the company but to ratepayers as well.  Absolutely.


MR. THOMPSON:  So that then brought me to my questions in the e-mail, which was trying to understand the causes of this sufficiency.


So the first thing I asked for was to understand the decline, so I'm at page 2, J1.2, at line -- sorry, I guess it is page 3 of J1.2, at line 2, where you are showing in column 3 a variance in the required rate of return from the 6.80 Board-approved to 6.61 of 0.19 percent.


Do you see that?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And you had some discussion of this with Mr. Shepherd yesterday.


But again, just to put this in context, what this is showing, J1.2, line 1, you recovered in rates a rate of return of -- a rate base rate of return of 6.80 percent on a Board-approved rate base of $4.162 million, right?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.  That's a combined rate of return, which includes, for some of that value at least, the CIS asset, which is at a different ROE than the rest of the company's rate base, but marginally different.


But it's a combination of that and the rest of the company's ROE.  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Understood.


And so had you had 131 million -- $131.2 million over-run in rate base, all other things being equal, you would have had a deficiency in the order of -- of $8.9 million; would you take that, subject to check?  That's the 6.8 times the 131.2?


MR. CULBERT:  You are taking simply the cost of capital.  You would have to gross up the return on equity, but -- so it would be a higher number than what you've calculated, because you would have to gross up the equity component.


MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry for -- I'm just keeping it net of taxes for the comparison purposes, which is what this line is.


MR. CULBERT:  Sorry, would you repeat that, Mr. Thompson?


MR. THOMPSON:  I'm keeping it net of taxes, which is what the 6.80 percent is.


MR. CULBERT:  I understand.  So the increase in cost of capital before the gross-up.


MR. THOMPSON:  So what happened was through a mix of lower cost short-term debt and less long-term debt than had been forecast -- and I'll come to that in a second -- your required -- your rate of return turned out to be 6.61 percent?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, as a result of combinations of mix, as you point out, a delay to a degree in a planned long-term debt issuance and changes in cost rates for short-term debt, et cetera, and change in equity level, yeah, there's a change to 6.61


MR. THOMPSON:  And had you not had the $131.2 million over-run in rate base, then would you have had a sufficiency of about $8.1 million?  Again, net sufficiency?


MR. CULBERT:  There wouldn't necessarily have been a sufficiency, because part of that increase in rate base is gas in storage.


If you look at the sufficiency -- sorry, I'm trying to turn it up here.  At J1.2, page 7, you will see that the actual rate base versus Board-approved, down at line 10, of that increase in rate base of 131 million was actually a $71 million increase in gas in storage value.


So there is no sufficiency in terms of recovery of that gas in storage value, because in our QRAMs that we apply for and are approved by the Board, we are passing through the return on that gas in storage change, at the Board-approved total weighted average cost of capital.


So there is no sufficiency relative to that element of rate base, sufficiency in and of itself.


Yes, our earnings would go up because it is 8.93 percent earnings on an increase in the amount of gas in storage that's required on the equity component of that, but that does not result in a sufficiency in and of itself.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Maybe I'm using the wrong terminology, but let me put it this way.  Had you achieved a required rate of return of 6.61 percent versus the allowed 6.80 percent on the $4.162 million, the required -- what you would have recovered in rates in -- for required rate of return of $283.2 million would have been higher than the product of 6.61 and 4.162, by about $8.1 million?  That's just the math?


MR. CULBERT:  Yeah, just a second.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. CULBERT:  So that would have been the difference in revenue requirement, I agree, but it doesn't necessarily convert into an over-earnings or increase in return.  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  I take your point there, and that's why just put it into math terms.


And so the bottom line is that through the combination of the required rate of return that you were able to achieve, less than the Board-approved, plus the over-run, if I can put it that way, in rate base, the $283.8 million resulting was only 0.6 million above the 283.2 being recovered in rates?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  That's the total amount recovered, which has an equity component and an interest component, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, in terms of that 6.1 -- sorry, 6.61 percent versus the 6.80 percent, we see that, the derivatives of that on page 2 of that exhibit; correct?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And compared to the approved, the 1.11 short-term debt -- you discussed this with Mr. Shepherd -- was 89 basis points below the approved 2.0, right?


MR. KENNEDY:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  I haven't pulled up his paper to compare this, but I hope you'll take this subject to check.


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, he was comparing to K9.2, which were the Board-approved exhibits for the 2013 proceeding.  Yes, that's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And then he discussed with you the mix between long-term and short-term, and you pointed out you had some overruns in rate base and that contributed to an increase in short-term, but would you agree with me that another contributor to the increase in short-term was that in the long- and medium-term debt the approved was 2.451 million, and the actual, it's 2.411?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, the approved was actually 2.461, but that's --


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  I'm sorry, 61, so it is a $50 million --


MR. CULBERT:  Change in the average of averages of planned long-term debt and existing long-term debt, yes.  And as I explained, that was due to a delay in the issuance of the debt that had been planned for August to -- delayed to November of 2013.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But again, that --


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, that contributed --


MR. THOMPSON:  -- shifted dollars from the more costly long-term debt category to the much more -- much cheaper short-term debt category, $50 million.


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, I would agree.


MR. THOMPSON:  And then another item was the preference shares, which was approved at a rate of 3.20, and in actual it was 2.40, which was 80 basis points less, and you explained that, and -- which I didn't quite understand -- somebody has the option to reduce the rate?  Could you just clarify what that's all about?


MR. BHATIA:  Okay.  Maybe I can give that a try on the pref rates.  So the preferred shares, the way they are currently operating, involve a floating rate.  So basically there is a prime lending rate that preferred shares run on, and 80 percent of that prime lending rate is what the payment on those preferred shares is.


I think what we are talking about here is that there was a -- just like all the other rates, there was a forecast for the short-term prime lending rate involved, and the actual prime lending rate turned out to be lower, hence the payout on the preferred shares was lower in actuals, versus what was forecast.


Did I answer that question?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, so I didn't appreciate it was -- that it was fixed, but it's -- so it's at floating to prime?


MR. BHATIA:  Yeah.


MR. THOMPSON:  And it's 80 percent of prime?


MR. BHATIA:  Yeah, it's 80 percent of prime --


MR. THOMPSON:  So does that apply in all of the other years?  It is a forecast off prime?


MR. BHATIA:  That is correct.  So there is a five-year option, and the five-year option comes up again in the middle of this year.  And that's just the structure of the preferred share when it was originally set up, so it had a fixed five-year term, which I think ended somewhere in 2008, 2009, and after that the holders of the preferred shares elect, in the every fifth year, that would they prefer to use a fixed-rate option versus a floating-rate option.


So the last time that option was exercised, roughly five years ago, they had elected to choose the floating rate option, and hence it continues like that.


Again, it comes up somewhere in the middle of this year for the option to be exercised again, and I will underline, it is the holder of the preferred shares that hold that option to choose fixed rate or floating rate.


MR. THOMPSON:  But in terms of what you're forecasting for your costs of capital, 2014 to '17, are you forecasting that the holders will continue to select to float with prime?


MR. BHATIA:  Yes, that's certainly what we're forecasting for now.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  I'll come to that in a minute.


Okay.  So that explains -- those are the items that -- Mr. Culbert, that explains the 6.8, going to 6.1 -- 6.612?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.


Now, the other line item I questioned in my e-mail was the O&M expenses line, and for this one you will just have to have in front of you -- it was the -- yes, sorry, Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 1, page 27.


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, I have that.


MR. THOMPSON:  And your operation and maintenance expenses, line 5 in J2 -- J1.2, page 3, actual were only about 600,000 more than Board-approved, 415.5 versus 414.9, correct?


MR. CULBERT:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And then in D1, tab 3, schedule 1, page 27 we had -- we discussed this -- there is a panel last week to deal with other O&M, and we heard that there was a 6 -- I think it was a $6.5 million overspend in other O&M.  And we see that at line 5, 219.2 versus 224.7?


MR. CULBERT:  Yeah, it looks to be 5.5 million to me, but --


MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, I'm sorry, 5.5.


And then one thing we didn't discuss was because at least I thought CIS, customer care, CIS were in a kind of a true-up basket, but in CIS up above there is about a $6.2 million savings in actuals two-thirteen versus Board-approved.


And my -- first of all, there is that savings, Mr. Culbert?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, my understanding is the actual customer-care cost -- the CIS amount would be the same, because they're just my forecasts, as we agreed to in that proceeding, around the recovery of carrying cost on the CIS asset, so there is no variance in that whatsoever.


The variance would have occurred in the customer-care activity.  I have had a brief conversation with someone in customer care as to what that was about, and it was circumstances in the customer-care activities of the company.  I don't have details as to what the drivers may or may not have been.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let me put it this way.  My understanding, and I may not have this straight, was that savings in that line item, that basket, would be subject to true-up.  And my question is, is that $6.2 million in that category, or is that something that's going to continue year after year?


MR. CULBERT:  I'm not sure what you are referring to.  Subject to true-up in what regard?


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I thought there was a true-up mechanism in the CIS basket.


MR. CULBERT:  Well --


MR. THOMPSON:  You were part of the --


MR. CULBERT:  Yes --



MR. THOMPSON:  -- one of the authors, so I assumed you could tell us about that.


MR. CULBERT:  We were both part of the CIS customer-care deal.  The true-up aspect of the customer-care deal that occurred, I'll say, in the second five-year customer-care agreement was about capital-expenditure differences in certain categories.  Those things have already been handled in the second customer-care agreement and approved by the Board, so that was the only true-up that was to occur with respect to the CIS customer-care deal, and that's already been handled in the second agreement.


The rest of the costs of customer care, there was no such true-up to occur.  The company was able to recover the amounts of customer-care O&M costs as part of that agreement, and whatever the actual costs are are what the costs are.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So what you're telling me is if this $6.2 million is for the shareholder.


MR. CULBERT:  So Mr. Small --


MR. THOMPSON:  In 2013.


MR. CULBERT:  This variance is relative to the budget, is to the account of the bottom line.  There is -- I should correct myself.  There is a slight adjustment that has to be made with respect to the customer-care costs that are allowed in the agreement, and that is to adjust the customer forecast numbers coming from the ABSU contract, so that will happen annually as we know what those forecast customers are, so that will true-up the amount of costs that are recoverable in that agreement, but it doesn't true-up anything with respect to what the actual costs of customer care become.  There are circumstances that change customer call-ins.  I won't pretend to know all of the variables that occur, but there are circumstances that change the actual cost, and their service provided by ABSU versus what the forecast costs were.  They could be on the other side of the equation for the rest of the years.  I don't know the answer to -- but, yes, the company is at risk for the amounts that were agreed to by parties and approved by the Board in that second customer-care agreement, correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So the numbers for 2014 to 2018 for CIS stem from the agreement, as I understand it.


MR. CULBERT:  They stem from the agreement and the current forecast of customer numbers coming from the ABSU contract.  So those numbers you see there might change if the customer forecast numbers change.  And again, that will be part of our rate application in the fall of every year.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, you can't give me the details and I didn't think anybody on the other panel could either, because they were other O&M.


Could you undertake to provide the details of the $6.2 million difference between line 1 approved and actuals, and advise whether that's likely to continue?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  I can certainly speak with our customer care representative and give a response.


MS. SEBALJ:  That is J10.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J10.2:  TO PROVIDE DETAILS OF THE $6.2-MILLION DIFFERENCE BETWEEN LINE 1 APPROVED AND ACTUALS, AND ADVISE WHETHER THAT'S LIKELY TO CONTINUE.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  Then finally, the topic contributing to the sufficiency you discussed with Mr. Shepherd is the margin increase.  The details are spelled out at page 5 of this document; fair?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the -- small point first, but the sales on page 3, line 23 are 200 -- sorry, the margin difference is 206.9 million; do you see that?  Line 23, column 3 of page 3 of J1.2?


MR. CULBERT:  That's the increase in -- other than transportation service customers.  So that's our general service customers, $206 million, yes.  There is a decrease in our...


MR. THOMPSON:  I see.  So the --


MR. CULBERT:  Our total revenues that we're collecting for all customer rate classes was higher by $202.1 million.


MR. THOMPSON:  So that's 23 and 24 combined?  Does that require the --


MR. CULBERT:  23 through 26, yes.  There is some rounding in there.


MR. THOMPSON:  Got you.  Thanks.


And then the -- what I'd asked for in my e-mail, just to understand this margin calculation and its drivers, were the -- so you have higher -- you have five categories here, a higher number of average unlocks, and there was a $4.8 million enhancement of margin attributable to that topic, right?


MR. CULBERT:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And I'd asked that you give us the forecast and the actuals for producing that outcome.


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  And I have those numbers.


So the Board-approved and agreed-to average unlock customer forecast for 2013 was 2 million and –- 2,025,462, so 2,025,462 customers was the Board-approved.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.


MR. CULBERT:  And the actuals came in at 2,029,999.


MR. THOMPSON:  So you have used those, I understand it, for 2014 and the 2,025,462 number as the jumping-off point, based on the concept that it's forecast -- Board forecast that are the point of departure?


MR. CULBERT:  That is my understanding.  I would have to get confirmation, but that is my understanding and that's been my response, yes.  That's supposed to be the starting point, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  So assuming all your forecasts are right on that particular line item between 2014 and 2018, this excess that's been reflected in 2013 will carry through each year; fair?


MR. CULBERT:  I'm not sure that's necessarily true.


MR. THOMPSON:  How can it not be true?


MR. CULBERT:  No, I understand your question.  I'm trying to think whether or not -- the same response that I gave to the other items.  It depends on what the circumstances were of that increase.


It would seem logical to me that one would imagine your start point being higher, the rest of your forecasts going forward should be higher by that amount, but I would need to look into what the circumstances were around that increase.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, that's what I'm going to conclude.  If you want to elaborate it on by undertaking, we'll just have a basket undertaking at the end here.


MR. CULBERT:  If I can just confer with my --

MR. THOMSON:  Yeah.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. CULBERT:  Sorry.  Yes, as part of our proposal, as you understand, we're proposing to update our forecast for unlocked customers and volumes et cetera going forward.


So to the extent that this variance does continue for forward-looking years, it would get built into our forecast customer unlocks and volumes and therefore revenues in each and every one of the subsequent periods.


MR. THOMPSON:  That is covered off in an annual adjustment, is what you're telling me?


MR. CULBERT:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So the next one is increase in gas in storage carrying costs from higher PGA reference price.  You mentioned that previously.


How does an increase in carrying costs contribute to an enhancement of margin?  I didn't understand that, quite frankly.


MR. CULBERT:  Well, what you have -- you have an increase in earnings.  If you are earning a fixed ROE -- call it 8.93 percent -- on the equity component of your rate base and capital structure, to the extent that your forecast valuation of your gas and storage was using, as I pointed out, the -- I think it was the Board-approved numbers used a point-in-time PGVA reference price forecast, which was $157.


As you go through the year, as that price increases and which is adjusted through QRAM processes, my earnings will go up because my equity requirement in my rate base is going up because of that price change, but I'm still earning an 8.93 percent return on it.


So I'm not over-earning in terms of a return element, but your earnings do go up.  Because your rate base value goes up, your earnings will go up.


MR. THOMPSON:  So that item, what I hear you saying, is going to get covered off in the QRAM process?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  The increase in our margin is a result of the QRAM processes, which increased our reference price.  And I do a valuation of gas in storage in every one of the QRAM processes, and I look at it and say:  Fine, our volumes projection was whatever times a new reference price differential.


Therefore my rate base goes up, therefore my equity requirement goes up, therefore my earnings go up.


But my return on equity does not change.


MR. THOMPSON:  The next one was lower transmission and storage-related fuel costs requirements, and I understood you to say to Mr. Shepherd:  This is at our risk?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, just as we are forecasting the volumes changes annually in our rate application proposals, gas cost is a corollary of that volumetric forecast.  There is a gas supply plan which has a demand volume which is forecast, so to the extent that each and every year we are going to be coming back with a new gas supply plan, yes, we are at-risk for forecast for these items.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right, but do I take it that the jumping-off point for the 2014 forecast is, dollar-wise, $10.4 million higher than it should be, based on this number?  And it's going to stay that way?


MR. CULBERT:  No.  No, you can't draw that conclusion, in my opinion.


Again, the gas supply plan looks at what the requirements are of the entire demand profile of the company, based on future volumetric forecasts, and projects what it needs in terms of storage transportation fuel costs.  So it will be doing that annually.


The variance that would have occurred in one year doesn't have any bearing necessarily on forecasts or actuals for future periods.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So what I hear you saying, that is going to be covered off in the annual adjustment process?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  The review of gas supply forecasts and the gas supply plan, as Mr. Quinn has been asking about, will happen on an annual basis.


MR. THOMPSON:  And now higher contract demand volumes, is that again something that will get covered off in the volume and revenues cost feature of your proposal?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And then the big one, "Stale-date cheques and other," what's that all about?


MR. CULBERT:  Stale-dated cheques, throughout its operations on an annual basis the company does have some monies that it has to return to customers for a variety of reasons.  I won't get into the particulars, all of them, but we do try to return monies that are appropriately supposed to be returned to individual customers.


As you can imagine, the process for doing that on occasion is customers have left the system, they've left the province, multitude of reasons, and the company endeavours to get all of those monies back to the customers that it can.


On occasion you go through a process, kind of like you do for bad debts and so on and so forth, and you reach a point in time where there is no way you are going to be able to reach the customers, and these amounts are taken through income on a periodic basis.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So what was the forecast there in the actual for that category?


MR. CULBERT:  I don't know that there was necessarily a forecast for this explicitly.  When we look at other revenues and what we experience in regards to this type of transaction, it would be based off of historical experience, in terms of what has been happening on an ongoing basis.


You don't necessarily always see the same amount of stale-dated cheque monies that are taken through your income statement.  It could be different every year.  So I don't know what an explicit number might have been.  It would have been based off of a trend of previous historical years, so I can't say here what that may or may not have been.


MR. THOMPSON:  No, just, stale-date cheques and other?  There must have been a forecast, there must have been an actual, and somebody came up with the $2 million contribution to margin.  Do you have those numbers?


MR. CULBERT:  Well, as I said, in -- the stale-dated cheques amounts have been taken through margins.  There is no forecast, necessarily, for stale-dated cheque revenues inside of margin when you are doing your volumetric projection.  You look at customers who were supposed to be billed certain amounts or might have been over-billed various things, and you take that through your sales rates from a perspective of, you couldn't get those monies back to customers, but there is no forecast in volumes for that occurring.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So what I'm hearing you saying is we've got a total of 20.2, we can account for 19.2, and the rest is stale-date and other.  Is that the way it works?


MR. CULBERT:  For the stale-dated cheque component, certainly.  The other amounts that are in there, there were a variety of other small items that would have been contributing versus forecast.


MR. THOMPSON:  So is there a forecast for reducing the actual that produces this 2 million difference, or is there not a forecast?


MR. CULBERT:  I can certainly endeavour to try and figure out what the rest of that is.  Again, we tried to pull this together in the week that we said we would do this, and so...


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, that's probably not necessary.


I believe those are my questions on this exhibit, and then I can do my --


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.


MR. THOMPSON:  -- after the break.


MS. CONBOY:  Well, let's take -- let's take the morning break, and we will break until quarter after.  And then you've still got an hour; is that correct?


MR. THOMPSON:  It will likely be less, but it certainly won't be more.


MS. CONBOY:  Sure.  You will be right, it won't.

[Laughter]

Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 10:55 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:14 a.m.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you, please be seated.


When you're ready, Mr. Thompson.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson:

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


There are two exhibits that were -- that the company kindly provided for me this morning.  They were in response to an e-mail -- a couple of e-mails that I sent earlier in the week.


I believe you have those in front of you and perhaps we should mark them.


The first is headed up "CME request," March 4, 2014.


MS. SEBALJ:  We have that.  That will be K10.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K10.2:  E-MAIL HEADED "CME REQUEST," MARCH 4, 2014.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the second is "CME request," March e, 2014.


MS. SEBALJ:  K10.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K10.3:  E-MAIL HEADED "CME REQUEST," MARCH 5, 2014.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.


Panel, let me start, then, just with a couple of questions about these documents that you've kindly provided in response to my e-mail.


The first request was that you update some information that had been filed in Enbridge's rate of return proceeding on the rebasing case, K1.2, and we have that marked as 10.2.


And this contains a list -- contains issuance by number of corporations, utility corporations from the years 2007 to date.


And my question is -- and I don't know to whom this should be put.  I'll just put the questions and hopefully the appropriate witness will answer.  But is this kind of thing kept by Enbridge Inc. on file, not only for these issuers, but for others?


MR. BHATIA:  Yes, generally.  Not specifically, maybe, in this exact format, but watching whatever peers are doing in the market and benchmarking our issuances in response to that.  If that's the spirit of the question, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  And is it updated regularly?


When I say that, I mean when somebody issues a new issue, that issue gets added to the list?


MR. BHATIA:  That is correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So just looking at this document, K10.2, on the back page, and for Enbridge we see that the latest issue was November 19, 2013, just a few months ago, for 30-year medium-term notes, a coupon 4 and a half percent and a spread of 140 basis points above -- is that above a Government of Canada, the long Canadas?


MR. BHATIA:  That's correct.  30-year Government of Canada, yeah.


MR. THOMPSON:  Then just dropping down, another -- in terms of the short-term issues, one was done on November the 19th for seven years, and the spread there was 99 basis points.  One in 2010 for 10 years; the spread was 90 basis points.  And one in 2007 for 10 years; the spread was 110 basis points.  Is that fair?


MR. BHATIA:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  I'll come back to some of that in a moment.


And then with respect to K10.3, this responded to a number of questions I'd asked, but I just want to understand the response before I move into my questions.


The first question I'd asked was for a list of issues that were rolling over -- my term -- and I understand that on page 2 of 6, you are showing the amounts rolling over --this was during the period 2014 to 2019 -- of 600 million roughly, face value, and the coupon rates shown there are the rates that apply to those existing debt issues; am I correct?  The 557, the 516 and the 516?


MR. SMALL:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And on table 2 on page 3, what we have here, as I understand it, are the new issues currently being planned for 2014, 2015, '16, '17 and '18, right?


MR. SMALL:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the timing of these might be a little different than what is described in the evidence, and I'll come to that in a minute, but in total dollar amount I believe they are the same different as what you described in the prefiled evidence; is that right?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.  I think the timing should be the same as well, but...


MR. THOMPSON:  We'll come to that in a minute, but maybe I'm just misreading the some stuff.


And on table 3, just so that I understand this, am I right that -- what I'd asked in one of my questions was to indicate the extent to which the cost of issues would be lower if the debt rates were 100 basis points below what Enbridge forecasts.


And I think -- correct me if I'm wrong -- that what you are showing at table 2, at the -- down on the bottom left-hand corner is the accumulated cost of these issues over the period '14 to '18 inclusive, in the order of 203.3 million, and then on table 3, you're showing what those costs would be if the -- if the debt rates -- charges were 100 basis points less, at roughly 159.6 million.


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And so the difference would be about $40 million over the four years?  I've rounded that, but in that order of magnitude?


MR. CULBERT:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And then I also asked you to show the impact of your embedded costs of debt being reduced by 100 basis points.


And on page 5 of 6, you respond to that by saying you won't respond because you think it's unrealistic, and I think I agree with you, because I'd overlooked the fact that the new cost of debt was only 25 percent of the embedded -- 25 percent of the embedded cost, as I read this response; is that what it's telling me?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.  So in order to get to your assumed reduction in that cost rate of 100 basis points, you'd have to use some backward induction reasoning to go through each and every debt issue, to say what would the rate become to get me to 100 basis point reduction in the weighted cost of debt.  So yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Would a 25 basis point reduction be more in the ballpark with my scenario that some of this new stuff might be overpriced?


I'm just trying to get something reasonable.  Maybe just do it at 10 basis points so I could get an indicator.


MR. STEVENS:  I just wonder, Mr. Thompson, whether you kind of have that information already by the fact that in table 3, Enbridge has illustrated the impact of reducing the assumed cost for each and every one of the new debt issuances by 100 basis points.


I think what we're saying is that the old -- the existing debt is not going to change.  It's fixed.


MR. THOMPSON:  I think you're right.  I have it.


And then finally, just to understand the information you've provided, we asked you to provide an indication of what the revenue requirement -- the extent to which it would reduce if the forecast level of ROE was 100 basis points lower in each of the years, and you've provided that, as I understand it, in table 4.


And the way I'm reading this is that the cumulative revenue requirement between my scenario and your application would be lower by $128.4 million.


MR. SMALL:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And that number would remain the same whether -- I think this presentation has SRC in, but whether it's in or it's out, that number would remain the same; is that right?


MR. SMALL:  No, this scenario does include the impacts of our SRC proposal, but to the extent that the SRC proposal was removed or changed, it would impact rate base and whatnot, so that would ultimately change what your potentially ROE would be, because if you have a different base you are applying ROE to it would ultimately change what --


MR. CULBERT:  So as we discussed yesterday, the SRC analysis shows that if you just removed SRC based on the forecast cost of capital as resident in the application it would change by $240 million, approximately.  Once you change the capital structure to different rates, that $240 million would become a different number now, so we'd have to rerun that at all of these weighted average cost of capital to determine what that SRC impact would be.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, we've been pushing the "SRC out" picture from day one, so can you give me this calculation with SRC out, just so that I have all of my apples in the apples basket?


MR. CULBERT:  We're thinking about it.  We'll -- if you can let us think about it and get back to you on it.


MR. THOMPSON:  That would be appreciated.


Number, please?


MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry, is that an acceptance of the undertaking?  Is it a best efforts, or are we talking about getting back to whether --


MR. CULBERT:  We'll reply on a best-efforts basis and qualify our response.


MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.  It is J10.3.

UNDERTAKING NO. J10.3:  TO calculate the revenue requirement with the SCR taken out, ON A BEST-EFFORTS BASIS

MR. THOMPSON:  Great.  Thanks.


Okay.  So I would like to just -- I want to go through some of your numbers here for each of the years to understand their derivation and to perhaps illustrate where they might be high.  And before I do that, if I could ask you to turn up, first of all, CME 9.  This is Exhibit I.A10.EGDI.CME.9.


And basically, we asked you here to give us the sources of the information that you were using to estimate short-term debt, long Canada bond yields, utility bond, 30-year Canada Government and spreads and so on, which would be used to derive your rates in this application, and you responded by referring us to Energy Probe 20.


We were looking for all of the sources of information that you were relying on, and that directed us to Energy Probe 20, which I'd like to then put on the screen, if we might.  And so this is referring to February 2013 data which you have used to develop your estimates.  Am I correct?


MR. BHATIA:  That is correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And am I correct that this information gets updated regularly and that there would be a February 2014 version of this information?


MR. BHATIA:  It is an annual update, so we are sort of right in the midst of a February/March time line to update that, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, could I have an undertaking to produce the updated information so that we can have the most recent information you are using?


MR. STEVENS:  It wasn't clear to me whether it was done or not.


MR. BHATIA:  The information is available, but it's not yet been compiled and ready, so if that's an undertaking request, what I heard, yes, we can certainly provide that.


MS. SEBALJ:  It is J10.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J10.4:  TO PROVIDE THE UPDATED INFORMATION IN I.A10.EGDI.CME.9, AND ALSO EQUIVALENT TEN-YEAR GOC FORECAST, AND ALSO SHORT-TERM FORECASTS, AND ALSO A CURRENT VERSION OF WEEKLY SPREAD ESTIMATES RECEIVED FROM VARIOUS FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS


MR. THOMPSON:  And what is displayed here in this response are 30-year GOC forecasts from eight financial institutions?  Have I understood that correctly?


MR. BHATIA:  That is correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  But as I look at your issues, you have -- there seems to be a distinction between 30-year and ten-year GOC.  Is there an equivalent ten-year GOC forecast by these same institutions?


MR. BHATIA:  Yes, there is.


MR. THOMPSON:  Could we have that provided as part of the undertaking response?


MR. BHATIA:  Most certainly.


And then this morning you were talking about preference being provided on the basis of prime, and so are there again prime forecasts for going out five years or more from each of these institutions?


MR. BHATIA:  Yes, there are.  There are short-term forecasts, so, yes, those are available too.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So would you add those then to the updated information?


MR. BHATIA:  Sure.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.


And then part (b) is -- I think has something to do with your derivation of spreads, and the footnote here talks about weekly spread estimates received from the various financial institutions.  And do we have a current version of those that could be attached to the undertaking response?


MR. BHATIA:  Based on, again, February/March 2014?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.


MR. BHATIA:  Yes, sure.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And could you just explain how this works in this section B?  You have a step 1 2012 forecast, ten years, and then there is a number in 2013, 1.10 percent.  And I assume that's an average of the weekly spread estimates from these banks that you've reflected for February 2013.  Is that where that number comes from?


MR. BHATIA:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And then where did the other numbers, '14, '15, '16, '17, come from?  The same source document, or are they some sort of build-up?


MR. BHATIA:  Yes, maybe let me take a step back and attempt to explain this.  So the spread forecast is not an element that is explicitly forecasted by financial institutions, so the process, again, mechanistically, that Enbridge uses in all of its planning processes involves the expectations that these credit spreads have a mean version in their nature; i.e., over the longer-term they kind of stay back to what their long-term average is.


So the derivation that we're talking about attempts to explain that, that, in very simple words, I think one of the footnotes, footnote number 2, says that, so one-year forecast, for example, for 2013 is the one-year historical average.  Two-year forecast would -- is what's used for a 2014 average, with the end result that over the five years, in 2017 in this case, you come back to a five-year average for this -- spreads.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  I just want to make sure -- so the one-year 110 is an average of all of these financial institutions that they have provided for 2013.


MR. BHATIA:  Yeah, these were based on actual indications received, so again, I will repeat that these are not --


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So those are --


MR. BHATIA:  -- forecasts that these are --


MR. THOMPSON:  -- actual numbers in the market.


MR. BHATIA:  That is correct.  So for an example, if you were looking at March 2013, so if I go back from March 2013 to March 2012 and take an average -- straight average of those indications received from the financial institutions, that's the number that goes into the 2013 column.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So what is the number that goes into the 2014?


MR. BHATIA:  So that would be the two-year average.  So from March 2013, going back to March 2011.  So again, the expectation is over the longer-term they revert back to a mean.

MR. THOMPSON:  So you are going backward with your averages; is that --


MR. BHATIA:  Mm-hmm.


MR. THOMPSON:  So 2014 is the average of '13 and '12?


MR. BHATIA:  That is correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And 2015 is the average of '13, '12 and '11?


MR. BHATIA:  That is correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  2016, you go back four years?


MR. BHATIA:  Yeah.


MR. THOMPSON:  And 2017, you go back five years?


MR. BHATIA:  That is correct, sir.


MR. THOMPSON:  So what's the rationale for that?


MR. BHATIA:  So as I just said, the expectation or the theory that it is based on is that over the longer term, the credit spreads, which are the spreads on top of the underlying, have a mean reversion, so they come back to the same steady state.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, it -- is there some theoretical basis for that?  Or is that just a derivative of this is cyclical?


MR. BHATIA:  I think there is some of that, sir.


As I said, the other reason is there isn't any explicit forecast available.  It is the methodology that Enbridge has developed and evolved over the years, and uses it consistently across all of its forecast process.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, is there any literature that supports it, or just -- is this an Enbridge Inc. approach?


MR. BHATIA:  It's an approach that is accepted at Enbridge Inc.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Then down below there is Something:  "Check mean reverted spreads."  What does that mean?


MR. BHATIA:  So what that's just showing is at the time the forecast was put together, the best data that we had was available for a 10-year term, and then the 30-year adjustment was applied on top, just because the 10-year instruments on a 30-year obviously have a term correction on top of it.


Eventually later, we did get the 2013 30-year data, to which it was checked against that, to validate that it is roughly within the right ballpark.  We have in our process a 25 basis points tolerance level, so that's what I compared that to, and I illustrated that.


So if I had the data later -- if I had the data at that time which I had later, it would still have come back to pretty close numbers.


MR. THOMPSON:  So again, this is going back 30 years?


MR. BHATIA:  That is correct -- not 30 years, sorry.

It is using the 30-year tenure.  So for the return of ROE calculations, we use a long Canada bond --


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.


MR. BHATIA:  -- as one of the data points, which is a 30-year data in this case.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.


MR. BHATIA:  So this is saying -- maybe I'll walk through that line one more time, the one that says "Check mean reverted spreads, term 30 years."


So specifically for 2013, what that's doing is taking a 30-year debt number, going back for the last one year and saying what that spread would have been.  So the difference here is as indicated in the "Term" column, what tenure of instrument is being used over here.


Ideally, we would have liked to use 30-year, but that data wasn't available then.  So it was based over 10 years and a spread on top of it.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So the -- what I hear you saying is that for the "Check mean reverted spreads, 30 years" you are using 30-year data for 2013, and then going backwards for up to five years?


MR. BHATIA:  That is correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thanks.


If we can now turn to Exhibit E1, tab 2, schedule 1, and what you show here in this exhibit are issues for '14, '15 and '16.


And then at the last part of the evidence, you talk about the cost of long-term debt, and you have some numbers there in paragraph 21, 4.17 percent for 2014, 4.93 percent for 2015, and 4.65 percent for 2016.  And can you just tell me where those numbers come from?


MR. BHATIA:  Sure.  So what those are are a combination of -- maybe –- okay.  So I should point out the table 1 in the same schedule, sir.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.


MR. BHATIA:  So for 2014, the average, the weighted average of those two effective costs, item number 1, item number 2.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So that's the 4.17; is that Right?


MR. BHATIA:  Yes, that's correct.  And similarly, table 2, table 3 would lead to the '15 and '16.


So it is just the average.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.


So let's go then to table 1.  And this evidence was filed on June the 28th of 2013, and at that time you were planning 215 million on September '14 for 10 years and 215 million at 30 years; have I got that straight?


MR. BHATIA:  That is correct, sir.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, I'm just trying to find the exhibit that you gave me.  So if we go to K10.3 at table 2, so there is 195 million and 20 million.  None for 10 years there, 2014.  So it's two issues I see; is that right?


MR. BHATIA:  Yes.  The combination of column 1 and 2 would be the 215 of the 10-year that was illustrated in table 1.


Similarly, the combination of column 3 and 4 is the 215 in table 1.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so for the 10-year Canada yield, that number would not come from what you provided in Energy Probe 20.  The 30-year information is what you provided in Energy Probe 20; is that right?


MR. BHATIA:  That is correct.  The Energy Probe 30 illustrated the 30-year, but as we just undertook, we can get that 10-year data in the same way.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right, but just looking at the 10-year data, we see that the lowest of the forecasts in 2014 for 30 years is 2.4 percent for long Canada HSBC, right?


MR. BHATIA:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And I assume that, generally, the 10-year forecasts are lower than the 30-year; is that fair?


MR. BHATIA:  Yeah.  Generally there is a term structure to interest rates, yes.  10-year are lower than 30-year, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Is there some sort of spread that -- by which they are lower, rule of thumb?


MR. BHATIA:  Hard to say, sir.  It changes historically.  It is a function of a lot of components in the market, the demand by investors on which duration they want to play in.


So -- but I would accept the fact that generally there is a spread.  I don't think it is a static spread, though.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  That's fine.


So even just taking the lowest of the numbers in Energy Probe 30, your 261 could be 20 -- could on the basis of the lowest for 30-year GOCs could be 21 basis too high?


MR. BHATIA:  Yes, I think it's equally likely, just as the RBS 3.8 is the highest one, could be the other driving factor in the outcome too.  So the approach we use is an average for exactly that reason, that it is an unbiased middle point of the estimates provided.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, we'll argue that, but in terms of the spread, you have 120 basis points, right?


MR. BHATIA:  Yes, for the 10-year column on this.  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  The 10-year?  Right.  And history shows us that Enbridge itself gets a spread below 120.  It's the most recent issue, 99 basis points, so that could be 20 basis points too high.


MR. BHATIA:  Sir, I may just point out that 99 is a seven-year term, and as we just agreed and talked that there is a term premium, so between seven and ten years, the 99 will generally go up when you correct it for the ten-year term.  That's point number one.


The point number two I would also mention here is that in some of these cases the specific point of time numbers are not necessarily the right indicator.  Things on a spark (sic)  basis do move around for other factors in the market, so...


MR. THOMPSON:  I accept that, but I say that there is some evidence indicating your 120 could be high.  You may not accept it, but there is some evidence there.


MR. BHATIA:  I'm not sure that evidence is very clear to me, but sure.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And similarly, with the 296 for long-term -- and this is the second tranche -- based on the 2.4, that could be as much as 56 basis points too high.  I take your point there are other numbers out there, but it could be -- it could turn out to be 56 basis points too high.


MR. BHATIA:  I think, so probabilistically based, there is equal probability of it being higher or lower at this point, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the spread you have at 150, but the issue that you just did in November, 30-year, the spread was 140, so that could be ten basis points too high.


MR. BHATIA:  As I described a little bit earlier that our longer-term forecasts are based more on a long-term mean diversion, so I'm not necessarily sure looking at a point of time estimate -- point of time number today is necessarily a predictor for where it might be a year, six months down the line.


So what we have shown in these exhibits, sir, I will submit, are our best estimates of where we think the market will be.  Could you come higher, could you come lower, I think is equally there.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, I can do this for each and every issue.  I don't intend to do that.  I'll wait til I get the updated information and do it in argument, but just on the 2015 issues, which we see at E1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 2, the spreads that you have there are 140 basis points for the first two, but then it goes up to 170 basis points, right?


MR. BHATIA:  Yes, sir, 170, again, I'll point out is for the 30-year tranche, and the 140 we are talking about is for the ten-year tranche, and we agreed, I think, a little bit before that there is a premium difference between the longer-term and the shorter-term.


MR. THOMPSON:  But -- I noticed that, but history shows that ten years you're around 100, and at 30 you are around 140, so those numbers could be 30 basis points high.


MR. BHATIA:  Sir, I may also mention that history will also show if you go back in 2008, 2009 the spreads have actually been even higher than that, so I believe during the credit crisis the numbers went up to 300 basis points.  So I think we are -- we may be careful about looking at selective history here.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, the 2017 and '18 issues, they're shown at -- in E1, tab 2, schedule 2.  Am I right?


MR. BHATIA:  That is correct, sir.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, I'll wait til I get the other information then and make my submissions on these numbers in argument.


With respect to equity return, what you've done, as I understand it, is for the purposes of your assumptions, is assumed that the base rate of 9.75 percent will prevail throughout the five years.


MR. BHATIA:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And I believe there is a review of ROE on the agenda for -- is it this year?  Board review of...


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, my understanding is it's this year.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the base rates in other jurisdictions, my understanding is they are lower than 9.75?  Alberta, for example?


MR. CULBERT:  Subject to check I would agree, if that's true.  I'm not sure.


MR. THOMPSON:  You're not sure?  Well, would you agree with me there's a prospect that that base rate will decline?


MR. CULBERT:  I suppose there is a prospect it could change in either direction.  I'm not sure whether it would go up or down.  Right now the 2014 result, based off of the current formula, is different from what we've applied for, but...


MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, what do you mean by that?


MR. CULBERT:  Well, there is a difference in terms of what this formula produces right now versus what our forecast is.  What a different formula might produce, I can't say whether it would be higher or lower.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, what's the difference that you are speaking of?


MR. CULBERT:  Well, our forecast for 2014, based off of the data you see on page 3 of Mr. Bhatia's evidence here, shows 927.  As confirmed by Mr. Brett earlier, that number is really 9.36 percent for 2014.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.


Now, in terms of the -- did that reflect all of the components for 2014 or just the 9.75?  In other words, are your forecasts for these other components contributing to that outcome?


MR. CULBERT:  No, what I'm getting at is that's the Board formula for all of its formula -- it produces 936 versus this forecast of 927.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, the inputs that you've used, am I correct, for the Board's formula, are they shown in E2, tab 1, schedule 2, page 2, the long-term bond yields?


MR. BHATIA:  Yes, the long Canada bond yields, as well as the spreads, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And for -- and where are you getting these spreads for the utility bond spreads for '15 and beyond?


MR. BHATIA:  So, sir, that was the exact calculation that we walked through before the mean reversion, the long-term average that I described earlier.  That's exactly how that is coming up.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So that's using the averages going backwards.


MR. BHATIA:  That is correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Whereas does the Board's formula use averages going backwards?  It takes forecasts that, as I understand it, that come into existence at a point in time.


MR. BHATIA:  So what this is, is a mechanism, and I will say again it is a mechanistic mechanism to come up with what an estimate is, of what these numbers will be at that point of time.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But you want to lock it in, right?  Your proposal is to lock in these numbers for the term.


MR. CULBERT:  Our proposal is to use the forecasts that we've established at this point in time and not change those for each of the years going forward; that's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well -- excuse me one moment, Madam Chair.  I will just check my notes here.


Just one last question, Mr. Culbert, and it goes to this point we were discussing earlier about monies saved on -- if any, on rollover of existing debt.

And the company's answer to my question in that area was K10.3 in response (a), that you couldn't calculate any debt cost savings resulting from rollover of existing debt from higher rates to lower rates; do you see that?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, we have that.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And then this takes me, then, to your update of CME 14, Exhibit I.B17.EGDI.CME.14.


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, we have that.


MR. THOMPSON:  And at line 8, there is a calculation, cost of capital excluding ROE, change on base -- rate base.  And it's producing a cumulative $32 million reduction in cost?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, we see that.


MR. THOMPSON:  And I had understood that that represented an estimate of the savings that would be realized on the rollover of more expensive debt to new debt at lower rates.  Is that what that line item is?


MR. CULBERT:  So what that number is reflecting is that based on the forecast debt issuances that we've just been talking about, our cost of debt versus Board-approved is expected to decline during the IR term.


So applying that new cost of debt to base 2013 rate base results in a decline of $32 million.


MR. THOMPSON:  So is the -- the distinction that's being made is it's not necessarily rollover debt, but it's all debt; is that what you're saying?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.  That's correct.


When we read your question, Mr. Thompson, the rollover aspect which you were trying to describe, when your -- when debt is maturing, your new debt issuances aren't necessarily replacing those debt issuances.  They're funding what you need as an entire package for your capital structure and rate base.


So we were just a little puzzled as to trying to match specific replacements of debt.  That's not really the way it works.


MR. THOMPSON:  So if I'd asked the question properly, I would have gotten the answer 32 million?


MR. CULBERT:  That's on base rate base, though; that's not on other base.


MR. THOMPSON:  I got it.


Well, the other rate base is incremental; correct?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, because as your rate base grows, regardless of whether -- your average cost of debt, the rate itself is declining, but as your rate base is growing in the next line, you would see that you actually increase your interest expense as a total number.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, and that's line 9?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, but if we had kept the cost rates for debt at 2013 rates, we wouldn't see as great of an increase –- or, excuse me, you'd see a different number than what's produced in that line.  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And is that number in the record, the -- I thought it was, but -- what the cost of capital would be if everything remained -- that is equity and debt remained at base 2013 levels?


MR. CULBERT:  Yeah.  As we discussed earlier, that is SEC 43, the response to that.


So it kept the cost of capital at 2013 in its entirety.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  I thought it was.


Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.
Questions by the Board:


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.
I'm just wondering if you could confirm, please -- Mr. Thompson touched on this -- with respect to the Board's review of cost of capital.


You will recall in 2009 we conducted a full review of the cost of capital, which ultimately led to the report, and then we committed to redo that review in 2014, and I believe it is actually in our business plan.


So is it the company's position that regardless of the outcome of that review, you are going to -- you are going to -- for lack of a better way of saying it -- stick with what's locked in your application?  Or is there something that you would -- could you conceivably come back and ask for changes in equity thickness or in any of the other variables that we deal with in the cost of capital review?


MR. CULBERT:  No, our proposal as currently before the Board was we would not look to change any of the features of our capital structure for equity and/or the return at this point in time, based on whatever the Board's findings are in that proceeding.


We would do so at our next rebasing proceeding.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  The Panel has no further questions --


MR. THOMPSON:  Excuse me, Madam Chair.  I just noticed I missed a couple of areas I wanted to question on, if I might be permitted.


MS. CONBOY:  Sure.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.
Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson:

Yes, panel, if you would just go to E1, tab 1, schedule 1, I forgot to ask you about short-term debt and preferred shares.


And the short-term debt for 2013, you show at 2 percent, and we know that's almost 90 basis too high.  The preferred you show at 320; we know that's 80 basis too high.


I'm wondering if you could just tell me how you derived short-term and preferred share costs in each of the years '14 to '18, so when I get these data sources I'll understand what baseline you used and what spread you used.


MR. BHATIA:  Sure.  So the process is very similar to what was outlined in -- what was outlined for the 30-years, so again, it is based on a bank consensus view, so we do go out as a part of our long-range planning to seven or 10 banks and get them to forecast their economists' forecasts of each one of those rates.


So specifically for the short-term debt, the SEDAR rate, which is used as the benchmark for short-term forecasting, we get a forecast of that.  And the numbers reflected for '14 to '17 would be the average for each one of those years by the seven or 10 banks that were in the mix.


For the preferred rates, I'd add an --


MR. CULBERT:  So it's T-bill plus nothing?  There's no spreads that we're talking about here?


MR. BHATIA:  No, sir.  There is no spread on top of it.  It is basically, as I said, it's the SEDAR rate, the short-term debt rate that we would seek from the banks, and that's exactly what's in there.


MR. THOMPSON:  Is that going to show up in the data you are giving me in response?


MR. BHATIA:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.


Preferred shares, then?


MR. BHATIA:  Preferred shares, as I'd explained earlier, they are a floating rate instrument, the ones that EGD holds, so that is based on a prime lending rate.


So the process over there is looking at the short-term debt forecast from the banks, and then there is an average spread that's added on top of it, which is based on historical observations.


So typically a prime lending rate always has a spread on top of the short-term debt rate; that is just the market convention.  So again, a historical spread is added on top of that.


Again, this is something that we can detail out in the undertaking, how that is computed.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right, but what is it, big picture in...


MR. BHATIA:  I'm not sure I have that number right in front of me.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, 2013 you had it at 320, which I understand you to be saying was prime plus a spread.


MR. BHATIA:  I'm sorry, sir.  I was just looking through my papers.  Could you ask that question again?


MR. THOMPSON:  That's fine.  I was just trying to get the prime plus the spread and -- some estimate of what the spread is.


MR. BHATIA:  Okay.  Maybe I misspoke or I didn't speak clearly.  There is no spread on top of the prime.


What I was describing was to come up to the prime rate, there is a spread applied on top of the short-term debt rate, which is typically the market convention.


So when we look at a SEDAR rate today and the prime lending rate today, there is a spread on top of it.  There is no spread -- I will be clear -- that is applied on top of the prime lending rate in our calculation.


I was merely describing the mechanism to get to the prime lending rate.


MR. THOMPSON:  And so the preferreds are all at forecast of prime for each of those years?


MR. BHATIA:  80 percent of the prime lending rate, which is how I described it.  So that is the term sheet structure for the preferred shares.


MR. THOMPSON:  I see.  And your undertaking response is going to show us the prime information?


MR. BHATIA:  That is correct, sir.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you very much.  My apologies.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  That's fine.


Mr. Stevens?


MR. STEVENS:  I have no redirect.


MS. CONBOY:  Great.  Well, we are done for the day.  Thank you very much.


The panel is excused with our thanks.  I believe we will see both Mr. Small and Mr. Culbert again.


Now, am I correct we are going to sit again on the 25th?


MS. SEBALJ:  That's correct.


MS. CONBOY:  Where we will hear the final two, the final two panels.


And so we will see you at 9:30 on the 25th.


I'd also like to thank Bonnie for helping us.  This has been very helpful, having these -- all these exhibits put up on the screen.  So thank you very much for your efforts.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 12:05 p.m.
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